IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA APPEAL CASE NO. SC05-353

JEFFREY ALLEN MUEHLEMAN, Appellant

Versus

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee

_____/

Appeal of : STATE OF FLORIDA v MUEHLEMAN, CASE NO.: 83-04924CFANO-C, Sixth Judicial Circuit of Florida UCN: 521983CF004924XXXXNO

APPEAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Respectfully Submitted By:

Charles E. Lykes, Jr., Esquire Counsel for Appellant 501 S. Ft. Harrison Ave., Suite

101

Clearwater, Florida 33756 Telephone: 727-441-8308 Facsimile: 727-442-8562 Email: <u>charles@lykeslaw.com</u> FBN: 291341

I.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
 V. ARGUMENT
VI. CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
CERTIFICATE OF FONT COMPLIANCE
II. TABLE OF CITATIONS

Constitutional Law

Cases Faretta v California, 422 U.S. 806, 835 (1975) -1-, -8-, -16-, -17-Faretta v California, 422 U.S. 806, 835 (1975) -1-, -2-, -7-, -8-, -10-, -16-Lamarca v. State, No. SC03-1815 (Fla., 2006)-20-People v Willis, 349 Ill.App.3d 1, 811 N.E.2d 202, 284 (Ill., 2004) -23-People v. Miller, 311 Ill.App.3d 772, 725 N.E.2d 48, 244 Ill.Dec. 253

Travis v. State, 969 So.2d 532 (2nd DCA, 2007) -19- Wilson v State, 1D05-2953,

 Rules of Procedure

Fla R Jud Ad § 2.050 (b) (2)	
FlaRCrimP § 3.700 (c) (1)	-3-	
FlaRCrimP § 3.700 (c) (2)		

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Statement of Facts and the Case.

The facts relevant to this appeal are largely procedural and, with the permission of the Honorable Court, Appellant will combine the statement of the case and facts. The Appellant was convicted in 1984 for the murder of a 97-year-old man during the course of a He was also sentenced to death. robbery. The Appellant was originally permitted to represent himself after the inquiry required Faretta v California, 422 U.S. 806, 835 (1975) by the original by Trial Court, the Honorable Crockett Farnell, who has recently retired from full-time judicial service. Judge Farnell was in active service in June, 2003, when the subject proceeding occurred. After a series of appeals and post-conviction petitions the case and the Appellant were returned to Pinellas County, Florida, for a re-sentencing proceeding.

The order from this Honorable Court returning the case to Pinellas County for a new sentencing hearing was clear in its admonition that

~1~

the Appellant should be immediately advised of his right to counsel.(In the first hearing regarding this matter Judge Downey, who R. 24) was then the Administrative Judge but would soon be taking over the division to which this case was assigned, failed to follow this There were three instances during that hearing in which admonition. the subject of counsel came up. (R. 121-122, 123, 126, 128-129) These conversations resulted in little more than confirming that Appellant would continue to represent himself. He asked at his 40 boxes of file material be made available to him while in Pinellas County. The longest substantive discussion about counsel was whether or not there would continue to be standby counsel and whether the office of the public defender would have a conflict. (R. 128-129)

What did occur at that time was the Appellant was misinformed about the possibility of waiving a jury. (R. 124) Since it appeared (and he had not even requested it yet) that his case would not be returned to the original sentencing court FlaRCrimP § 3.700 (c) (2) would not permit the waiver of a jury. The original sentencing Judge

~2~

was still an active member of the bench although, at the time of resentencing, in the Civil Division.

The Appellant was never at this hearing specifically told that he had a right to counsel nor was anything in the nature of a <u>Faretta</u> inquiry conducted. In a hearing on January 20 1, 2003, the subject of discovery was discussed but no mention of counsel. On February 12, 2003, there was another discussion about counsel. Even though the State asked for an extensive Faretta hearing the Trial Court seemed satisfied with relying on the earlier determination of Judge Farnell, some 19 years before, that Appellant was confident to represent himself (R. 223).

On January 21, 2003, the Appellant made a motion to have his case reassigned to the original sentencing Court, Judge Crockett Farnell, who was still an active member of the bench. Judge Farnell was then in the Civil Division of the Sixth Judicial Circuit and maintained court in downtown Clearwater, Florida, at the main courthouse complex. (R. 25) Appellant made his motion pursuant to Fla R Jud Ad § 2.050

3ٽ

(b) (2) and (b) (4) and did not cite Fla R Crim P § 3.700 (c) (2).

Appellant's motion was denied by order dated February 7, 2003. (R.24) In the denial the Chief Judge found a distinction between the use of the term "necessary" in FlaRCrimP § 3.700 (c) (1) and FlaRCrimP § 3.700 (c) (2). No legal authority supporting this distinction was cited by the Chief Judge. The Chief Judge went on to provide in his denial (R.27, paragraph 14) that "The assignment of this case is solely within the discretion of the Chief Judge." as though there were no authorities bearing on the issue other than the discretion of the Chief Judge. What was overlooked in this order was the clear requirement of FlaRCrimP § 3.700 (c) (2) that the case be tried to a jury if it was "necessary" that a successor Judge preside over the matter.

At the pretrial hearing on May 16, 2003, or one week before the hearing jury trial was scheduled to begin on May 23, 2003. The State of Florida again pressed for a more complete <u>Faretta</u> inquiry without success, but later that week the Trial Court finally acknowledged that it had to be done.

On May 19, 2003, Judge Downey proceeded to conduct what was intended to be a Faretta inquiry. During the Faretta inquiry conducted at that time the Trial Court first asked a series of questions to which the Appellant made no response. (R.139-141). The Appellant stated that he believed that the Faretta inquiry was "off base" and the Trial Court agreed (R.142, lines 19-21). Following this the inquiry, such as it was, continued with most questions not being answered. The Appellant stated that this matter was a surprise. When the Court pointed out the Constitutional requirement Appellant allowed that, had he known that standby counsel would be the subject, he would have been prepared to discuss the counsel issue with legal authorities The Trial Court did not repeat the inquiry and denied ready. appointment of even standby counsel. (R.141-148).

On June 23-24, 2003 a penalty phase jury trial was conducted. Appellant was, under any reasonable analysis, an unrepresented non-participant. He took no role in jury selection, objection to or cross examination of any evidence, determination of jury selection,

ັ5ັ

or closing argument. He was even dressed in prison clothes. The jury recommended death by a 10-2 vote.

Following the sentencing hearing the Appellant appeared at a <u>Spencer</u> hearing, still without counsel, and following this, the Trial Court reimposed the death penalty upon the Appellant. (R.101-114).

B. Points on Appeal.

POINT ONE - THE TRIAL COURT FLAGRANTLY DISOBEYED THE ADMONITION OF THIS Honorable Court TO IMMEDIATELY ADVISE THE Appellant OF HIS RIGHT TO COUNSEL AND THIS PREVENTED A PROPER AND SUSTAINABLE RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS.

POINT TWO - WAS THE APPELLANT ENTITLED TO HAVE HIS CASE REASSIGNED TO THE ORIGINAL SENTENCING COURT FOLLOWING THE RETURN OF THE CASE FOR RESENTENCING?

POINT THREE - WAS THE FARETTA INQUIRY CONDUCTED BY THE Trial Court ADEQUATE TO SATISFY CONSTITUTIONAL STANDARDS FOR WAIVER OF COUNSEL AT A CRITICAL STAGE IN A DEATH PENALTY CASE?

POINT FOUR - IT WAS ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO PERMIT MEMBERS OF THE OFFICE OF THE STATE ATTORNEY TO ACT AS SURROGATES FOR READING TESTIMONY FROM Appellant'S ORIGINAL TRIAL TO THE JURY.

POINT FIVE - THE TESTIMONY OF REWIS VIOLATED MARANDA

POINT SIX - EVEN IF NO ONE ERROR ALONE WOULD REQUIRE REVERSAL THE CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF ALL OF THE ERRORS REQUIRES THAT THE MATTER BE REVERSED AND REMANDED.

C. Standard of Review.

Points on One through Three appeal are fundamental errors and, should this Honorable Court determined that such matters were indeed error the Appellant is entitled to relief unless such errors can be shown to be harmless beyond reasonable doubt by the Appellee. Points Four through Six require Appellant to show the errors were not harmless.

IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Appellant will first show that the Trial Court deliberately and flagrantly violated the admonition of this Honorable Court to immediately advise the Appellant of his right to counsel in the Rather than do this the Trial Court brushed over the proceedings. issue of counsel and essentially did little more than confirm that the Appellant would continue to represent himself. It had been nearly 20 years since the Appellant had last had a Faretta hearing. Since then the case had been through many twists and turns including direct appeal and post-conviction matters. This Honorable Court clearly wanted a record which reflected first that the Appellant was aware of his right to counsel and second, that any waiver of such right was knowing and intelligent. Because the Trial Court failed to provide this advise the record is clouded with doubt and uncertainty and the case must be returned or proper proceedings. The Appellant will show that his request for the reassignment of his case to the original sentencing court was proper and should have been granted.

Judge Farnell was available within Pinellas County, Florida, and was actively hearing matters in another division at the time. Accordingly, "necessary" to assign the case to a successor Judge as it was not required by FlaRCrimP§3.700(c)(2). Because none of the matters having previously occurred in the case would have created a presumption of vindictiveness on the part of Judge Farnell, and because the Appellant specifically requested that his case be reassigned to the original sentencing judge it was error to permit the case to be heard by a substitute Judge. Such error cannot be said to have been harmless Moreover, such was a presumptive right beyond a reasonable doubt. of the Appellant which could have been accommodated in 2003 but now, since Judge Farnell has retired, it cannot be surely accommodated.

Because this protection of the rule was deliberately denied to the Appellant he is entitled to have his death sentence commuted to life without parole for 25 years.

The Appellant will also show that the <u>Faretta</u> inquiry conducted in his case was insufficient and inadequate for the purpose of

~9

comprising a proper and sufficient waiver of the fundamental right to the effective assistance of counsel as provided by the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution. In particular, the <u>Faretta</u> inquiry was conducted in a flippant and cavalier manner and without explanation. From the record it cannot be said that the Appellant understood the significance of the inquiry as it was being conducted and was never given an opportunity to go through a <u>Faretta</u> inquiry which was conducted in an appropriate and adequate manner. Such error cannot be said to have been harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Appellant will further show that it was improper to have members of the Office of the State Attorney serve as"readers" of prior trial testimony, particularly that of the jail informant Rewis, who had participated in a stratagem to induce a statement from the Appellant prior to his original trial and proceedings.

Appellant will also show that it was erroneous to permit any reference to a recorded statement obtained by Rewis because this

`10**`**

statement was obtained in violation of Miranda since Rewis was acting as an agent of the state in obtaining the statement and the Appellant was not advised of his Miranda rights at the time of making the statement to Rewis.

Finally, Appellant will show that, even if no one error requires reversal, the cumulative effect of all of these errors does result in a proceeding which is of sufficient doubt and uncertainty to require reversal.

V. ARGUMENT

The Appellant will now present argument in support of his points on appeal including references to the record, citations of authority, and analysis.

A. The Trial Court flagrantly disobeyed the admonition of this Honorable Court to immediately advise the Appellant of his right to counsel and this prevented a proper and sustainable record of proceedings.

When the case was returned to the Trial Court this Honorable Court provided, in boldface type, that the Appellant should be "immediately advised of his right to counsel". There is little room for ambiguity in such an admonition. It is clearly something that should have been done in the very first appearance of the Appellant in the Pinellas County Courts. In that first hearing the subject of counsel was discussed several times but the discussion always was with the presumption that the Appellant would continue to waive appointed counsel. At no time, prior to the inadequate <u>Faretta</u> hearing, did the Trial Court clearly explain to the Appellant his right to counsel.

After explaining his right to counsel, and ensuring that the Appellant was aware of such rights, it would have been appropriate to have conducted a new Faretta hearing with the appropriate respect for the law. Because this was never done everything that happened following the Trial Court's disregard of the admonition of this Honorable Court is tainted. Appellant attended perhaps a half-dozen pretrial hearings in which significant matters of discovery and a request for the original sentencing Judge were discussed. All of these matters were

addressed by the Appellant without the assistance of counsel and the Appellant professed that his point about restoring the original sentencing Judge to the case was the controlling issue. He was at least correct about his right to the original Judge.

A Trial Court must follow the law and the law includes following orders of controlling Appellate Courts. When such a direct admonition has been given to a Trial Court the failure to follow such admonition should be viewed as plain error. This Honorable Court was clearly desirous of ensuring that the proceedings which were about to occur would no longer be questionable from the standpoint of the counsel Appellant's right to and that the Appellant would not have that issue to complain about.

As will be seen throughout the record of proceedings, the failure to clarify the issue of counsel by immediately advising the Appellant as directed by this Honorable Court, has rendered the entire proceeding unworthy of placing an individual to death. Appellant respectfully submits that the record does indeed demonstrate a flagrant disregard of the guidance of this Honorable Court and that this was an error and that prejudice must be presumed unless it can be shown harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

That cannot be done for several reasons. For one reason, the Appellant brought his motion to return the case to the original sentencing court under the wrong rule. With standby counsel or some lawyer to consult with he may have used the correct rule and then he might have prevailed. Even though the Chief Judge cited the correct rule in his denial of the motion, for the reasons that will be set forth below, Appellant will show that the Chief Judge misinterpreted the rule and again, consulting or standby counsel may have made a difference.

Additionally, Appellant proceeded throughout the entire penalty phase jury trial unrepresented and in jail clothes (R. 460) under the erroneous presumption that any participation by him beginning with jury selection and continuing on through the end of the proceeding, would compromise his argument about his right to the original sentencing Court. Accordingly, the proceeding may as well have been conducted *in absentia*. This is another matter which may have been resolved by counsulting or standby counsel without clouding the record as it is now.

Indeed, this single act of defiance by the Trial Court, in and of itself, has rendered this entire proceeding unworthy of affirmance.

B. Appellant's Request For Assignment of His Case to the Original Sentencing Court Should Have Been Granted.

In the case of <u>Madrigal v State</u>, 683 So2d 1093 (4th DCA, 1996) it was determined that, without some showing of necessity, it was error to permit sentencing by a Judge "other than the one that presided at the trial or plea hearing". This reasoning was expressly adopted by the Second District within the last year in the case of <u>Conroy v State</u>, 933 So.2d 687 (2nd DCA, 2006). These were decided pursuant to FlaRCrimP§3.700(c)(1), which concerns non-capital cases.

In the present case this Appellant had specifically requested

that his case be reassigned so that it could be tried before the original Trial Court. (R. 1-20) His original sentence was the death penalty. It should not require further support to say that the original Trial Court was familiar with the evidence which was presented in the case and was in a much better position to presently evaluate the numerous aggravating and mitigating factors which were at issue since he had is done before.

Even though some 20 years or more had passed since the original proceeding it is reasonable to expect that a Circuit Judge would have some recollection of both the evidence which was presented in the demeanor and attitudes of the witnesses in a matter of significance such as the imposition of the death penalty. It is also reasonable to expect that the review of the trial record by the original Court would be much more meaningful than a first review of the trial record by a new court upon resentencing.

Although Judge Farnell may not have been assigned to the Criminal Division at the time of return of the case for resentencing, he was

`18**`**

still a sitting Judge and active within this Circuit and could have been available to hear the case. (R. 25) He was less than 10 miles away. The reasons offered by the Circuit Chief Judge or declining to request indicate more of a concern for the convenience and authority of the Circuit than for an established right of the Appellant.(R. 24)

It is difficult to understand how the Chief Judge could have construed the rule so as to not require reassignment to the original sentencing Court. FlaRCrimP § 3.700(c)(2) allows sentencing by a successor Judge only when necessary and then <u>requires</u> a trial of the sentencing issue to a jury. The context of the word "necessary" in FlaRCrimP § 3.700 (c)(2) is exactly the same as in FlaRCrimP § 3.700(c)(1). The Chief Judge apparently rested is decision that there was some different interpretation of this term on the fact that FlaRCrimP § 3.700(c)(2) refers to eight "capital trial" and the Appellant had pled guilty rather than go to a jury trial in his guilt phase.

`19**`**

Appellant is unaware of nor did the Chief Judge supply any authority for this proposition. With respect to the issue of sentencing in either a guilty plea or a guilt phase trial in either capital or noncapital cases the original sentencing Court would have still been required to engage in analysis of the sentencing factors and the facts of the case before rendering a sentence. Accordingly, there really is no logical reason for the fact that the Appellant previously pled guilty to have an impact on the use of the term "necessary" in FlaRCrimP § 3.700 (c)(2).

The record further demonstrates the mis-perception of this requirement by the local courts in this case, including both the Trial Court and the Chief Judge. Neither seemed to notice that the use of a successor Judge would require a jury trial since the potential of the waiver of a jury was discussed throughout. In fact, the Appellant had originally indicated that he was not desirous of a jury and the use of the successor Judge , pursuant to FlaRCrimP § 3700 (c)(2), actually served as an absolute bar to his making that decision. Appellant would respectfully submit that an error such as this is such a fundamental denial of due process and that it cannot be considered harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Accordingly, the death sentence must be reversed and commuted to life without possibility of parole for at least 25 years or, alternatively, be returned for yet another resentencing hearing.

Appellant would respectfully submit that there was no reason for excepting the conduct of a penalty phase hearing from the equivalent of a trial. The conduct of a penalty phase proceeding is adversarial, requires the presentation of evidence together with confrontation and cross examination, and resembles a trial in every other respect. Accordingly, Appellant would respectfully submit that the motion should have been granted and that transfer of this case over his objection to a Judge who lacked the familiarity with the case when the predecessor Judge was available and there was no showing of necessity was fundamental error.

C. The <u>Faretta</u> Inquiry Conducted by the Trial Court Was a Sham and Was Inadequate.

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