IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JEFFREY A. MUEHLEMAN,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC05-353

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM
ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar I.D. No. 0134101
Concourse Center #4
3507 Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607
Phone: (813) 287-7900
Fax: (813) 281-5500

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

FILED
THOMAS D. HALL
2008 JUN 30 A 11:24
FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

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

At page 20 of his brief, Appellant appears to reproduce a quote from Lamarca v. State, 931 So. 2d 838, 854-855 (Fla. 2006). Appellee has no quarrel with this excerpt and would add the

paragraph of this Court that followed that quote. The complete text recites:

In *Faretta*, the United States Supreme Court recognized that "the Sixth Amendment grants to each criminal defendant the right of self-representation, regardless of consequences." *State v. Bowen*, 698 So. 2d 248, 250 (Fla. 1997). Nevertheless, because the consequences can be severe, trial courts are required to make the defendant "aware of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation, so that the record will establish that '[the defendant] knows what he is doing and that his choice is made with his eyes wide open.'" *Hernandez-Alberto v. State*, 889 So. 2d 721, 729 (Fla. 2004) (quoting *Faretta*, 422 U.S. at 835). When the trial transcript reveals that the defendant is "literate, competent, and understanding" and has been apprised of his rights, this Court will uphold the inquiry. *Smith v. State*, 407 So. 2d 894, 900 (Fla. 1981) (quoting *Faretta*, 422 U.S. at 835); see also *Weaver v. State*, 894 So. 2d 178, 192 (Fla. 2004) (recognizing that "[a] trial court may not impose counsel on a 'literate, competent, and understanding' defendant who has voluntarily waived his right to counsel"). The penalty phase transcript reveals that these requirements were met in Lamarca's case. The trial judge informed Lamarca that he would be at a "great disadvantage" because he did not have the legal training of the state attorney, and on numerous occasions the judge expressed his disapproval of Lamarca's decision. The judge questioned Lamarca about his prior experience in the criminal justice system, recognizing that he had participated in two jury trials prior to this penalty phase, and the judge also considered Lamarca's mental condition, noting that his interactions with Lamarca during the many stages of trial indicated that Lamarca was intelligent and competent. In the end, the trial judge found that Lamarca was intelligent and that he had knowingly and voluntarily asserted his right to represent himself.

Moreover, Lamarca presented no competent evidence to refute this finding. The statement Lamarca relies on to assert his claim of incompetence was part of a concise, well-articulated speech in which Lamarca declared that the jury wrongly convicted him. The fact that this argument was not wise legal strategy in the penalty phase

does not support Lamarca's claim that the Faretta inquiry was invalid. See Weaver, 894 So. 2d at 193 (recognizing that the purpose behind the Faretta inquiry is to determine whether the defendant is competent to waive his right to counsel, "not whether [the defendant] is competent to provide an adequate defense").

Lamarca v. State, 931 So. 2d 838, 855 (Fla. 2006).

Fundamental error has been described as error that reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a guilty verdict could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error. Conahan v. State, 844 So. 2d 629, 641 (Fla. 2003); Brooks v. State, 762 So. 2d 879, 899 (Fla. 2000). In the context of a penalty phase proceeding, to constitute fundamental error the alleged error must be so prejudicial as to taint the jury's recommended sentence, i.e., that the recommendation of death could not have been made without reliance on them. See Peterka v. State, 890 So. 2d 219, 243 (Fla. 2004); Doorbal v. State, 837 So. 2d 940, 958-959 (Fla. 2003).

The instant claim is meritless. There is no fundamental error. The record conclusively establishes that Appellant knowing his rights willfully refused to answer appropriate questions. The trial court need not be the subject of unwarranted criticism for doing its job despite Appellant's refusal to cooperate.

ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED REVERSIBLY IN PERMITTING MEMBERS OF THE STATE ATTORNEY'S OFFICE TO READ TESTIMONY FROM WITNESSES NOW UNAVAILABLE GIVEN AT MUEHLEMAN'S PRIOR PENALTY PHASE PROCEEDING.

Appellant apparently is contending on this point that fundamental error occurred below, obviating the need for the interjection of a contemporaneous objection to preserve the issue for appellate review. Appellee disagrees and contends the claim is procedurally barred for failure to object. Steinhorst, supra. Appellee further asserts that no fundamental error has been shown. See Trease v. State, 768 So. 2d 1050, 1053 n.2 (Fla. 2000). Additionally, Appellant has failed to show the trial court abused its discretion. White v. State, 817 So. 2d 799, 806 (Fla. 2002).

The record reflects that a number of witnesses who had testified in Muehleman's previous penalty phase (following Muehleman's plea of guilty to first degree murder) over two decades ago were no longer available. For example, State Attorney Investigator Scott Hopkins testified that the homicide victim's former friend and secretary, Virginia Peterson, had died on April 2, 1996 at age 102, that the victim's daughter, Virginia Battle, had died on March 26, 1999 at age 81 and that Ronald Rewis could not be found after a diligent search; he disappeared from his sister's residence in 1991. NCIC show no activity since 1991, he

had no reported income since 1989 and had never applied for a driver's license (4th Supp. Vol. 5, R593-613).

The court found these witnesses to be unavailable and allowed the prior testimony to be used. (R, 613). Thereafter, Assistant State Attorney Kristen Howatt read the prior testimony of Virginia Peterson without any objection by the defense. (4th Supp. Vol 6, R653-670), Dawn Hoffman read the testimony of Virginia Battle (R671-682), and prosecutor James Hellickson read the testimony of Ronald Eugene Rewis (R724-748). Muehleman announced that while he was not objecting it was a standing issue of prosecutorial misconduct and that he would file a Bar complaint-that Rewis gave false testimony. (R725-726). When the prosecutor announced the conclusion of the direct testimony previously given by Rewis, Muehleman announced that he was waiving the reading of Rewis' prior cross-examination. The court announced to the jury that Muehleman made the decision not to present the cross-examination. (R744-748).

The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed unless there has been a clear abuse of that discretion. White v. State, 817 So. 2d 799, 806 (Fla. 2002); Brooks v. State, 918 So. 2d 181 (Fla. 2005); Randolph v. State, 853 So. 2d 1051 (Fla. 2001). Discretion is abused only when the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful or unreasonable, which is another way of saying that discretion is abused only where no reasonable person would take the view adopted by the trial

court. Trease v. State, 768 So. 2d 1050, 1053 n.2 (Fla. 2000); White, *supra* at 806; Green v. State, 907 So. 2d 489 (Fla. 2005); Perez v. State, 919 So. 2d 347 (Fla. 2005).

Appellant forthrightly acknowledges the inability to find supporting Florida law for the meritless claim that prosecutorial employees are not permitted to act as "readers" of prior testimony. (Brief, p. 22)⁷ One can readily see, however, the mischief occasioned by entertaining *ab initio* on appeal a complaint about the identity of such readers. If the reader is associated with the prosecution, the defendant complains that undue weight is given to prestigious prosecutors; on the other hand, if court personnel were designated the chore of reading prior sworn testimony, clever appellate counsel would adjust the argument to be that the court had departed from its presumed neutrality by allowing its personnel to be used impermissibly as "state agents" to help the prosecution.

The simple fact of the matter is that the reading of prior testimony is merely an administrative act and it matters not who performs it (assuming they can appropriately read and recite it). Cf. Stano v. State, 473 So. 2d 1282, 1287 (Fla. 1985) (rejecting defendant's objection to a procedure whereby a deputy clerk testified that the victim's parents had testified at an earlier trial and authenticated the exhibits that had been introduced

⁷ Undoubtedly, Assistant State Attorney Hellickson will be honored by Appellant's compliment as "a very distinguished member of the State Attorney's Office."

through their testimony and the court reporter read the former testimony into the record. This Court noted no impingement on the trial court's appearance of impropriety). See also United States v. Birnbaum, 373 F.2d 250, 264 (2d Cir. 1967) (prosecutor allowed to read Leonhardt's testimony); United States v. Hanrahan, 508 F.3d 962, 967, 968 (10th Cir. 2007) (court permitted witness for the Government to read Mr. Hanrahan's testimony from the first trial into evidence in the second trial; it was read into evidence by ATF Special Agent Frank Ortiz).

Appellant is not entitled to any relief based on his out-of-state authorities. In People v. Miller, 725 N.E.2d 48 (Ill. App. 2000), the appellate court reversed a conviction for several reasons. The court, for one thing, found that the trial court had abused its discretion in allowing a portion of defendant's statement about doing "bad things" because the statement was misleading, that it put the defendant in the untenable position of having to explain his statement by telling the jury about a prior juvenile conviction which the trial court had correctly ruled was inadmissible, and the statement constituted "extrinsic acts" evidence inadmissible under state law. Id. at 58-59. Additionally, the court found a violation of the defendant's right to confront and cross-examine a witness where the trial court had a transcript prepared and read to the jury where the transcript was not marked as an exhibit and the appellate court had no way to

review it to establish even whether it was identical to the trial judge's reading, nor was there a record to determine whether the transcript was even certified by the court reporter who presumably transcribed it and no record of who prepared the transcript or its source. Thus, the appellate court could not be certain the words read by the judge were actually the words spoken by the witness; and the jury returned a guilty verdict almost immediately thereafter. The inference was inescapable that the jury was persuaded by the judge's influence to reach a verdict of guilty. Id. at 58. Consequently, the appellate court reversed "for all of these reasons." In the instant case there were none of these errors.

In People v. Willis, 811 N.E.2d 202 (Ill. App. 2004), the appellate court found it an abuse of discretion for the trial court to allow the prosecution to call the presiding judge in the defendant's prior trial to confront or impeach defendant's testimony in the second trial by confirming that he had testified differently in the first trial. This had all occurred over defense objection that the judge's testimony was unnecessary since the transcripts from the first trial existed, had been testified to and could be introduced without Judge Locallo's testimony. Id. at 209. It hardly bears mentioning here, but in the instant case there was no testimony by a judge whereby the problem of undue acceptance of such testimony could result in prejudice by the jury.

In summary, this claim presented for the first time on appeal without presentation to the trial court for consideration and the opportunity to fashion a remedy acceptable to appellate counsel and his client is procedurally barred. It does not amount to fundamental error which would excuse the failure to object below to entertain appellate review now. There is no error, no abuse of discretion and this contention is meritless, if not indeed frivolous. Relief must be denied.

ISSUE V

WHETHER THE TESTIMONY OF REWIS WAS IMPROPERLY
ADMITTED IN VIOLATION OF MIRANDA V. ARIZONA,
384 U.S. 436 (1966).

Muehleman next contends that the re-read testimony of Mr. Rewis was violative of Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966) and United States v. Henry, 447 U.S. 264 (1980).

Appellee first submits that this claim is procedurally barred for the failure to object to the admission of this testimony below on this ground, Steinhorst, *supra*, Rogers, *supra*, Chandler, *supra*.

Even if this Court were to hold that Muehleman's comment suggesting prosecutorial misconduct at R, 725-726 adequately preserved this issue for appellate review, the claim is nevertheless both procedurally barred and meritless since this Court considered and rejected the identical argument on direct appeal:

Muehleman's next claim involves an alleged violation of his sixth amendment right to counsel. He contends that fellow inmate Ronald Rewis became a state agent for the impermissible purpose of acquiring incriminating evidence which properly lay beyond the state's reach. *Maine v. Moulton*, 474 U.S. 159, 106 S. Ct. 477, 88 L. Ed. 2d 481 (1985); *United States v. Henry*, 447 U.S. 264, 65 L. Ed. 2d 115, 100 S. Ct. 2183 (1980). We find in this case no violation of Muehleman's sixth amendment rights, as a review of the facts discloses that his incriminating admissions were not a product of a "'stratagem deliberately designed to elicit an incriminating statement.'" *Miller v. State*, 415 So.2d 1262, 1263 (Fla. 1982), *cert. denied*, 459 U.S. 1158, 74 L. Ed. 2d 1005, 103 S. Ct. 802 (1983) (quoting *Malone v. State*, 390 So.2d 338, 339 (Fla. 1980), *cert. denied*, 450 U.S. 1034, 68 L.

Ed. 2d 231, 101 S. Ct. 1749 (1981)).

First, Muehleman, apparently eager to talk, approached Rewis and began to repeatedly attempt to discuss details of the crime with him. Second, after unsuccessfully attempting to dissuade Muehleman from "talking too much," Rewis approached the authorities on his own initiative. *Bottoson v. State*, 443 So.2d 962 (Fla. 1983), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 873, 105 S. Ct. 223, 83 L. Ed. 2d 153 (1984); *Barfield v. State*, 402 So.2d 377 (Fla. 1981). Third, Rewis was at that point instructed not to initiate any conversations with the suspect. Finally, no evidence exists in the record that Rewis' efforts were induced by promises of any form of compensation. The contingent fee arrangement reflecting an improper relationship between police and informant in *Henry* is absent in this case.

In light of these circumstances, we cannot say that the authorities' eventual use of a tape recording device, wired to Rewis to record information which had been offered freely by Muehleman and previously reported by Rewis, itself violated Muehleman's sixth amendment rights. We find, as did the trial court, that the mere use of the tape recorder did not establish the more central question of whether the statements were deliberately elicited by Rewis acting in an unlawful capacity as an agent of the state. In this case, marked by Muehleman's penchant for loose talk and Rewis' turning to the authorities on his own initiative, we cannot find that the use of the tape recording device transformed these facts into a violation of Muehleman's right to counsel.

Muehleman v. State, 503 So. 2d 310, 314 (Fla. 1987).

There is no need to revisit this issue and it is both *res judicata* and law of the case. State v. McBride, 848 So. 2d 287, 289-291 (Fla. 2003) (law of the case doctrine requires that "questions of law actually decided on appeal must govern the case in the same court and the trial court, through all subsequent stages of the proceedings."). Florida Dept. of Transp. v. Jiliano,

801 So. 2d 101, 105 (Fla. 2001) (emphasis added). Additionally, "under *res judicata*, a judgment on the merits bars a subsequent action between the same parties on the same cause of action. See Denson v. State, 775 So. 2d 288, 290 (Fla. 2000)." Further, under Florida law, "collateral estoppel, or issue preclusion, applies when 'the identical issue has been litigated between the same parties or their privies'. Gentile v. Bauder, 718 So. 2d 781, 783 (Fla. 1998)."

Therefore, the instant claim is both procedurally barred and meritless. It is barred by the failure to adequately object below to preserve the question for appellate review. It is also barred since questions raised and decided on Appellant's prior direct appeal may not be relitigated. They are *res judicata* and law of the case. Finally, the claim is meritless as found by this Court on Muehleman's direct appeal.

ISSUE VI

WHETHER CUMULATIVE ERROR REQUIRES REVERSAL.

The claim of cumulative error is properly denied where, as here, there is no individual error. Pooler v. State, 33 Fla. L. Weekly S81 (Jan. 31, 2008); Williams v. State, 33 Fla. L. Weekly S32 (Jan. 10, 2008); Evans v. State, 975 So. 2d 1035 (Fla. 2007); Griffin v. State, 866 So. 2d 1, 22 (Fla. 2003); Downs v. State, 740 So. 2d 506, 509 n.5 (Fla. 1999); Connor v. State, 976 So. 2d 852 (Fla. 2008).

PROPORTIONALITY

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